1986

Utah v. Leland Thomas DeMille : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. The prosecution failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, the elements of Murder in the Second Degree.
2. The defendant failed to receive a fair and unbiased trial because certain jurors held unveiled biases and prejudices and because of juror misconduct during deliberations.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Leland Thomas DeMille was arrested and charged with Second Degree Murder a felony of the First Degree.

A Jury Trial was held, commencing, July 28, 1986, in the Fifth Judicial District Court in and for Washington County, the Honorable J. Harlan Burns, presiding.

At the end of the trial, the defendant was convicted by the jury of said charge.

Defendant filed his motion for a new trial, August 26, 1986, (R-173) and it was denied by the Honorable J. Harlan Burns, on the 26th day of September, 1986. (R-197)

On the 17th day of October, defendant filed his Notice of Appeal to the Supreme Court of Utah.

Defendant, Leland Thomas DeMille, at the time of the trial was married to Jan DeMille, formerly Jan Davies, the mother of the deceased child, Ronald Davies. (Tr. P 680-681) They had been married June 7, 1985 (Tr. P 680; L 10-15) and had had a child born of that issue, Thomas James DeMille born May, 1986. (Tr. P 680; L 21-25)

The defendant, hereinafter, sometimes, "DeMille", had met Jan Davies through his father who worked with Mrs. Davies' husband. (Tr. P 681; L 14-20) After Jan Davies and her husband separated, and he left her to go to Las Vegas, DeMille developed a friendship with Mrs. Davies that ultimately developed into a relationship. (Tr P 682; L 6-19) Initially, DeMille served as a babysitter for her son, Ronald, when he was not working, on occasions while she worked. (Tr. P 683; L 2-25)

Ultimately in January, 1985, that relationship became a joint living arrangement while they awaited Jan Davies' divorce from her husband so DeMille and Jan could be married to each other. (Tr. P 684; L 9-13 & Tr. P 680; L 10-15)

Ronald Davies lived with his mother and DeMille from January 1985 until his death on May 9, 1985. (Tr. P 684, L 9-16)

On Sunday, May 5, 1985, DeMille was at home doing yard work, among other things, (Tr. P 697, L 2-6) and caring for Ronnie Davies while Jan Davies DeMille worked at her job as police dispatcher.

At approximately 2:15 to 2:30 p.m. DeMille called Jan DeMille to allow Ronald Davies to talk with his mother on the telephone. (Tr. P 785 & P 785; L 2-12)

Slightly before 3:00 p.m., at 2:57 (Tr. P 646; L 14-15), when Jan DeMille was due to get off work, she received a call from DeMille informing her, "something's wrong with Ronnie." (Tr. P 646, L 14-19).

Jan DeMille hurried home and upon arriving home, together with DeMille, they placed the child in her automobile and drove him to Dixie Medical Center to the emergency room. (Tr. P 647; L 1-3)

The child was comatose when Mrs. DeMille arrived home (Tr. P 646; L 22-25) and when they delivered the child to the emergency room at Dixie Medical Center (Tr. P 647; L 22) at approximately 3:15 p.m. (Tr. P 104; L 11)

Later in the day at approximately 5:55 p.m. Ronald Davies was transported to Las Vegas by a Life-Flight team for further treatment. (Tr. P 110; L 21-25)

He was treated by Dr. Lonnie Hammergren and Dr. Vincent McCarthy in Las Vegas until May 9, 1985 when he died. (Tr. P 268; L 13-19)

Dr. McCarthy assigned the cause of death to be head trauma. (Tr. P 269; L 6-7)

The autopsy report, D-15, listed the Immediate Cause of Death: "Increased intra cranial pressure" due to: "Acute and subacute subdural hematoma - post craniotomy," due to: "Homicidal traumatic injuries - blunt force from trauma to head."

After the jury trial was concluded and the verdict of guilty rendered, juror, Judith Ann Garner executed an affidavit,

which was filed with the Motion for a New Trial, alleging numerous acts of misconduct or bias on the part of certain jurors.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. Defendant was charged by information with second degree murder, a first degree felony. While there may have been circumstantial evidence that enabled the jury to find that defendant did in fact cause the death of Ronald Davies, there is no evidence, or insufficient evidence to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the crime fits the elements or requirements for second degree murder as opposed to the lesser included crimes of manslaughter or negligent homicide.

While there were no instructions given, and none requested by defendant, which would have permitted the jury to find either manslaughter or negligent homicide, that does not relieve the prosecution of the burden of proving the elements of second degree murder beyond a reasonable doubt when the elements of the crime, actually proved, might as easily have constituted manslaughter or negligent homicide, which defendant submits is grounds for reversal or, at the very least, reduction of the conviction to the lowest level possible, i.e. of manslaughter or negligent homicide.

2. Defendant, with his motion for a new trial, submitted to the court an affidavit, executed under oath by a juror, alleging various incidents of unrevealed bias or misconduct on the part of jurors which defendant submits made a fair trial impossible.

The District Court refused to hold a hearing or to consider said allegations to determine if they were true or not, all of which defendant submits is grounds for a new trial.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

I. THE PROSECUTION FAILED TO PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THE ELEMENTS OF MURDER IN THE SECOND DEGREE.

The defendant, Leland Thomas DeMille, was charged in an Information with certain elements of Section 76-5-203 of Utah Code Annotated, referred to as the 2nd Degree Murder Statute. The elements charged are essentially those outlined in subparagraphs a, b and c, to wit:

"... did intentionally or knowingly cause the death of Ronald Wayne Davies....,"

which is subparagraph (a). The Information inserts next an "or" that is not in the statute and then proceeds

"... intending to cause serious bodily injury to Ronald Wayne Davies, did commit an act clearly dangerous to human life that caused the death of Ronald Wayne Davies..."

which is subparagraph (b) and again inserting an "or" that does not appear in the statute, proceeds

"... acting under circumstances evidencing a depraved indifference to human life, the Defendant, Leland Thomas DeMille, engaged in conduct which created a grave risk of death to another and thereby caused the death of Ronald Wayne Davies, "

which is subparagraph (c) of Section 76-5-203. (See Information, R-32-33)

The prosecution attempted to prove the death of Ronald Wayne Davies was caused by a massive blow to the head during a

time when only the defendant was with him, ergo defendant caused his death.

There was no testimony of any one describing the infliction of the injury and no direct evidence whatever of how the blow was inflicted or even that it was, indeed, inflicted by the defendant.

Hence, the evidence against defendant was entirely circumstantial, that is, the blow or trauma to the head, according to the prosecution's expert witnesses, had to have occurred within a certain limited time period and because defendant was with him, and the only person with him, during that time period, defendant must have caused the blow to his head that ultimately killed him. (See testimony of Dr. Walker, McCarthy & Clark)

The prosecution submitted evidence, though disputed or questioned, that could and apparently did enable the jury to believe that the injury was caused by a relatively heavy blow. (See Tr. P 553; L 5-11) The evidence was of an extensive skull fracture and of a rather large subdural hematoma. But, does evidence of a serious or severe injury suffice to satisfy all the necessary requirements of the Second Degree Murder Statute?

In determining the answer to that question, one must look at the Manslaughter Statute, 76-5-205, and the Negligent Homicide Statute, 76-5-206, and a comparison of them must be made to the 2nd Degree Murder Statute, 76-5-203.

The crucial portion of 76-5-205, the Manslaughter statute reads:

- (1) Criminal homicide constitutes manslaughter if the actor:
 - (a) recklessly causes the death of another; or
 - (b) causes the death of another under the influence of extreme emotional disturbance for which there is a reasonable explanation or excuse; or
 - (c) causes the death of another under circumstances where the actor reasonably believes the circumstances provided a legal justification or excuse for his conduct although the conduct is not legally justifiable or excusable under the existing circumstances.
- . . .

and the crucial portion of 76-5-206, the Negligent Homicide Statute reads:

- (1) Criminal homicide constitutes negligent homicide if the actor, acting with criminal negligence, causes the death of another.
- . . .

The distinction between 76-5-203, the crime of Murder in the 2nd Degree, and 76-5-205 Manslaughter, is essentially the element of intent.

Second Degree Murder requires that the accused (a) intentionally or knowingly causes the death of another while Manslaughter requires only that the accused (a) recklessly causes the death of another and negligent homicide requires only that the accused ... act with criminal negligence in causing the death of another.

Because the State has the burden of proving all of the elements of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt, the accused has no obligation to prove that one of the lesser included offenses is really the crime of which he is guilty and not the one charged, i.e. Murder in the Second Degree.

Therefore, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that it was the intent of the accused to cause the death of another and not that it was simply caused by his reckless conduct or his negligent conduct.

The recent case of State vs. Bolsinger 699 P.2d 1214 (Utah 1985) decided by this Court is important in analyzing this case.

As that case pointed out very succinctly:

Section 76-1-501(1) presumes a defendant to be innocent until each element of the offense charged against him is proved beyond a reasonable doubt; the requisite actus reus and mens rea set out in section 76-1-501(2) constitute the elements of the offense as follows:

- (a) The conduct, attendant circumstances, or results of conduct proscribed, prohibited, or forbidden in the definition of the offense;
- (b) The culpable mental state required.

In the present case there is no evidence whatever of the circumstances surrounding the death of the child other than the circumstantial evidence that the child must have been subjected to a severe or heavy blow to the head.

The State no doubt would argue that that circumstance is sufficient to justify a conviction under subparagraph (b) or (c) of Section 76-5-203. However, the Bolsinger case would dispose of that assumption as well.

After citing and quoting Sections 76-2-103(2), on page 1219 states:

A person engages in conduct:

- (2) Knowingly, or with knowledge, with respect to his conduct or to circumstances surrounding his conduct when he is aware of the nature of his conduct or the existing circumstances. A person

acts knowingly, or with knowledge, with respect to a result of his conduct when he is aware that his conduct is reasonably certain to cause the result.

The court then stated:

Correlating the conduct, circumstances, and result required under the depraved indifference statute and the mens rea of knowledge as promulgated in State v. Fontana, supra, we conclude that the following elements had to be present to properly convict the defendant under the State's third theory:

1. The defendant engaged in conduct which created a grave risk of death to another and that conduct resulted in the death of another--the actus reus.

2. The defendant knew that his conduct or the circumstances surrounding his conduct created a grave risk of death to another--the mens rea.

3. Defendant acted under circumstances evidencing a depraved indifference to human life--a qualitative judgment to be made by the jury in determining the extent of the defendant's conduct. It is not a description of the mens rea involved in the commission of the crime, but an evaluation of the actus reus. (Emphasis added)

The court in that case, realizing that the accused in that case actually entwined an electric cord around the neck of the deceased and pulled it tight - at least, tight enough to cause her death, and admitted that he had done so, still on page 1219 stated:

There is no question that defendant engaged in conduct creating a grave risk of death and actually resulting in death. It is the degree of culpability as well as the evaluation of the conduct that we question here. As enunciated under State v. Fontana, knowledge of one's conduct or the circumstances surrounding the conduct is the cognizance that the conduct or the circumstances surrounding it create a life-endangering risk to another.

In the instant case, there was no admission by the defendant that he had in any way caused the injury that caused

the death. The jury apparently believed those witnesses that testified the injury had to have occurred while the child was in his exclusive custody, and then drew the conclusion that he must have inflicted the injury. But, that is not evidence of his mens rea, only, as the Bolsinger case points out, of the actus reus.

In Bolsinger, the court noted that the defendant denied having intended any harm (page 1218). That was the only direct evidence of his intent. The State had no evidence otherwise, just as in this case, the state was not able and did not, present any evidence of what the defendant's state of mind was when, and if, he caused the blow that resulted in the injury to the child.

There is no evidence that it was neither the result of a reckless act nor a criminally negligent act as opposed to an intentional act.

Because the defendant does not himself provide the evidence of what the facts were, what his mens rea was, does not relieve the State of its burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that it was an intentional act as opposed to a reckless act or a negligent act. The jury, no matter how severe the injury, cannot simply presume the necessary mens rea to find him guilty of the highest possible degree of crime, to wit, in this case, 2nd Degree murder, rather than the less severe crimes that he might have been guilty of committing.

This court, in Bolsinger, after noting there was no evidence of the necessary mens rea, in that case, to commit 2nd Degree Murder, on page 1219 stated:

Given those facts reasonable minds must perforce entertain reasonable doubt that there was that degree of awareness with respect to the defendant's conduct and surrounding circumstances to impute to him the knowledge that his conduct created a grave risk of killing Kaysie and that he possessed the medical knowledge that compounding factors existed which would hasten her death.

In the instant case, even assuming that the defendant did something (the actus reus) which resulted in the death of the child, there is no evidence that the defendant understood and intended that that act could or would cause the child's death. There is no evidence that he did not temporarily black out. There is no evidence that he did not suffer temporary insanity, and that he even know what he was doing as he did it. There is no evidence that he did not, in a playful mood toss the child in the air, intending to catch him as he came down,-- as many loving fathers do-- but slipped himself and missed him, allowing him to hit his head on a hard object in the bathroom or elsewhere. There is no evidence that the defendant did not, because of the terrible emotional trauma the child's injury caused, simply himself black-out all knowledge or recollection of what did happen during that terrible few moments. There is no evidence that a hundred other things, short of an intentional taking of the child's life, might not have happened. But because there is no evidence that any one of these possible things might not have happened does not mean the prosecution is relieved of its burden to prove the intent necessary to constitute 2nd degree murder, and that the jury can, without any evidence whatsoever of what

did happen, simply assume that there was the requisite mens rea to find him guilty of the higher, most serious of all the possibilities available to them.

The State may argue that the defendant should have asked for an instruction, which he did not, which would have suggested to the jury they could find, as an alternative, either recklessness or negligence. But it is not the defendant's obligation to prove his innocence or that the State has not proved what it has charged him with. It is the State's obligation to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt precisely what it has accused him of doing.

In *Bolsinger*, on page 1218, the Court dealt with subparagraph (c) of 76-5-203, which requires, to find murder in the Second Degree, that the accused was,

acting under circumstances evidencing a depraved indifference to human life, he engages in conduct which creates a grave risk of death to another and thereby causes the death of another.

It stated on page 1219 regarding that case:

There is, however, sufficient evidence that the defendant was aware of, but consciously disregarded, a substantial and unjustifiable risk that placing and/or pulling a cord around the victim's neck would result in her death.

And the court again on page 1219 continued:

That risk was of such a nature and degree that its disregard constituted a gross deviation from the standard of care that an ordinary person would exercise under all the circumstances as viewed from defendant's standpoint. Such conduct is "reckless" under section 76-2-103(3).

In the instant case, the jury did not even know what the conduct of the defendant was, for there was no evidence whatsoever of what his actual conduct was.

In *Bolsinger*, on page 1220 the Court goes on to point out what the jury must know to find the requisite element of guilt:

In evaluating the defendant's conduct, reasonable minds must be free from reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty of depraved indifference to the grave risk of death created by his conduct. To constitute depraved indifference, the act must be one "which has been rather well understood at common law to involve something more serious than mere recklessness alone which has had an incidental tragic result."

Again it is the State's obligation to present evidence that the act met that standard.

The Court continued on page 1220:

There must be a knowing doing of an uncalled for act in callous disregard of its likely harmful effect on a victim, which is so heinous as to be equivalent to a "specific intent" to kill.
(Emphasis added)

The court on page 1220 went on to describe what must be shown (beyond a reasonable doubt)--not just surmised--to meet the requirement of depraved indifference.

Depraved indifference to human life is characterized by unmitigated wickedness, extreme inhumanity or acts exhibiting a high degree of wantonness. *People v. Northrup*, 83 A.D.2d 737, 442 N.Y.S.2d 658 (1981).

Again there was no evidence of such behavior whatever. The only evidence as to the continuing on-going relationship between the defendant and the deceased child was the testimony of

several witnesses who had observed their relationship. Garland J. Turner on page 603 of the Trial Transcript said after being asked if he could describe the relationship:

A. Well, I'd say what described it most was loving, kind. Tom (the defendant) was always helping. Ronnie was a smart boy, I mean, for three, he knew his ABC's and could count to 30 and it was - several times I seen them kissing. Ronnie would call him "Dad"--"Daddy"; you know, and he was happy. It was love.

and again on page 605, he added:

Q: Now at any time when he was in the home, did you ever see Mr. DeMille discipline him in any way?

A: No, In fact it was just like I said, love, kissing. It would surprise you. It did me. that...

Q: Why did it surprise you?

A: I knew Ronnie wasn't his real son. It kinda shocked you.

Q: You mean what shocked you?

A. To see the relationship they had. You know, like I say, it was love.

Leland Vaughn DeMille, defendant's father was asked what kind of relationship did he observe between the defendant and the child, page 617.

A: Very good

Q. Can you describe what you mean by "very good?"

A. Oh, a great deal of love there.

Q. Did you ever see Tom Davies cruel or in any way strike--not Tom Davies, Tom DeMille strike Ron Davies?

A: No sir, I never did.

Q: Did you ever see him in any way attempt to correct anything he did?

A: Just by talking to him.

Q: Okay, and what was the relationship--well, not the relationship, but how did Ronald Davies act towards Tom?

A: Real nice. I mean, you know, he was on his lap more than he was off his lap. There was a great deal of love there.

Q: Did he ever appear to be afraid of Mr. DeMille?

A: No. No. he never did.

Jan DeMille, the defendant's wife and the mother of Ronald Davies testified page 626:

A: He (Ronald Davies) took to Tom (defendant) right away. He wanted to go everywhere with him. He loved him dearly. He started calling him "Daddy" and his own father he called "Harley."

Again on page 628

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