1986

# Utah v. DeMille : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

Id. at 1116. McDonald v. Pless, 238 U.S. 264 (1914) explained the policy reason for barring juror affidavits from impeaching verdicts, by predicting the state of affairs that would result if affidavits were allowed to impeach the verdicts:

Jurors would be harassed and beset by the defeated party in an effort to secure from them evidence of facts which might establish misconduct sufficient to set aside a verdict. If evidence thus secured could be thus used, the result would be to make what was intended to be a private deliberation, the constant subject of public

investigation--to the restriction of all frankness and freedom of discussion and conference.

Id. at 267.

In Wheat v. Denver, 250 P.2d 932 (Utah 1952), cert denied, 346 U.S. 896 (1953) the Court was working under U.R.C.P. 59, which limited the admission of juror affidavits to cases involving bribery and chance. The Court explained the reasons for respecting the sanctity of jury deliberations:

To permit litigants to get jurors to sign affidavits or testify to matters discussed in connection with their functions as jurors would open the door to inquiry into all matter of things which a losing litigant might consider improper; misconceptions of evidence or law, offers of settlement, personal experiences, prejudice against litigants or their causes or the classes to which they belong. It would be an interminable and totally impracticable process. Such post mortems would be productive of no end of mischief and render service as a juror unbearable. If jurors were so circumscribed in their deliberations, it is likely that judge and counsel would have to be present in the jury room attempting to monitor and regulate their thought and discussions into approved channels.

Id. at 937. Flynn and Wheat were both cited with approval and quoted in State v. Couch, 635 P.2d 89 (Utah 1981). See also Rosenlof v. Sullivan, 676 P.2d 372 (Utah 1983) (defendant barred from submitting a juror affidavit of mathematical error that occurred when the damages were decided by the jury); Groen v. Tri-O-Inc., 667 P.2d 598 (Utah 1983) (six juror affidavits were

not admitted to show that the jurors did not understand that insurance would compensate the victim); Smith v. Barnett, 408 P.2d 709 (Utah 1965) (three juror affidavits of an unauthorized test by a juror, which test was the basis for the decision, were not admitted); Stringham v. Broderick, 529 P.2d 425 (Utah 1974) (five juror affidavits not admitted to show that the jury did not understand the jury instructions); Johnson v. Simons, 551 P.2d 515 (Utah 1976) (Juror affidavits not admitted to show that the jury misunderstood the jury instructions and disregarded the law in reaching their decision).

The affidavit offered by Defendant alleges juror bias (juror previously married to, but not "a fortiori a victim of" (Appellant's Brief 28) a child and spouse abuser, juror with experience working with abused children, juror knowledge of the location of Defendant's residence and knowledge of "what was going on"), juror impropriety (juror resorting to prayer, discussion of juror religious affiliation), and improper consideration during deliberations (juror consideration of autism, juror concern for health of jurors).

None of the allegations made in the affidavit describe a verdict that was reached by bribery or by chance, or constitute proof of extraneous prejudicial information or outside influence. They describe the mental processes and deliberations of the jury, and are not competent to impeach the verdict, as is shown by

State v. Gee, 498 P.2d 662 (Utah 1972). In Gee, juror affidavits showing that jurors concurred in the verdict because of their discussion of the defendant's failure to take the stand were not admitted because:

the testimony did not relate to extrinsic misconduct, that is, to physical facts, conditions or activities which might have a bearing upon or which might influence the jury in its determination of guilt or innocence. (Rule 44, U.R.E.) The testimony related solely to the discussions and reasoning process by means of which the jury arrived at its verdict. This evidence was inadmissible for the purpose of impugning the verdict, and should have been excluded at the hearing of defendant's motion for a new trial.

C. **EVEN IF THE AFFIDAVIT WERE ADMISSIBLE, IT DOES NOT DESCRIBE CIRCUMSTANCES THAT WOULD SUPPORT CHALLENGING THE JURORS FOR CAUSE IMPEACHING THEIR VERDICT.**

Even if the affidavit were accepted as competent evidence, and if the allegations posed therein were true, none of the allegations included in it constitute grounds for challenging the jurors for cause or for impeaching their verdict.

Valid challenges for cause are listed in subsection (3) of Rule 18 of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, 78-35-18:

(e) The challenge for cause is an objection to a particular juror and may be taken on one or more of the following rounds:

(1) Want of any of the qualifications prescribed by law;

(2) Any mental or physical infirmity which renders one incapable of performing the duties of a juror;



(3) Consanguinity or affinity within the fourth degree to the person alleged to be injured by the offense charged, or on whose complaint the prosecution was instituted;

(4) The existence of any social, legal, business, fiduciary or other relationship between the prospective juror and any party, witness or person alleged to have been victimized or injured by the defendant, which relationship when viewed objectively, would suggest to reasonable minds that the prospective juror would be unable or unwilling to return a verdict which would be free of favoritism. A prospective juror shall not be disqualified solely because he is indebted to or employed by the state or a political subdivision thereof;

(5) Having been or being the party adverse to the defendant in a civil action, or having complained against or having been accused by him in a criminal prosecution;

(6) Having served on the grand jury which found the indictment;

(7) Having served on a trial jury which has tried an other person for the particular offense charged;

(8) Having been one of a jury formally sworn to try the same charge, and whose verdict was set aside, or which was discharged without a verdict after the case was submitted to it;

(9) Having served as a juror in a civil action brought against the defendant for the act charged as an offense;

(10) If the offense charged is punishable with death, the entertaining of such conscientious opinions about the death penalty as would preclude the juror from voting to impose the death penalty following conviction regardless of the facts;

(11) Because he is or, within one year preceding, has been engaged or interested in carrying on any business, calling or employment, the carrying on of which is a violation of law, where defendant is charged with a like offense;

(12) Because he has been a witness, either for or against the defendant on the

preliminary examination or before the grand jury;

(13) Having formed or expressed an unqualified opinion or belief as to whether the defendant is guilty or not guilty of the offense charged; or

(14) That a state of mind exists on the part of the juror with reference to the cause, or to either party, which will prevent him from acting impartially and without prejudice to the substantial rights of the party challenging; but no person shall be disqualified as a juror by reason of having formed or expressed an opinion upon the matter or cause to be submitted to such jury, founded upon public rumor, statements in public journals or common notoriety, if it satisfactorily appears to the court that the juror can and will, notwithstanding such opinion, act impartially and fairly upon the matter to be submitted to him.

#### **1. "Juror Bias".**

Defendant's allegations of juror bias demonstrating that one of the jurors had been married to a spouse and child abuser and that one of the jurors had worked with abused children, even if true, do not show that the jurors had formed unqualified opinions about Defendant's guilt, or held states of mind which prevented their impartial consideration of the case.

Although the challenges for cause were listed in a different statutory format in State v. Baran, 474 P.2d 729 (Utah 1970), this Court demonstrated that allegations that prospective jury members have had similar experiences to those being litigated and allegations that prospective jury members are acquainted with the facts of the case do not constitute bias that

alone justifies dismissing jurors for cause. Baran was a robbery case, and the facts that:

"eight members [of the jury] had been victims of a robbery, two had previously read about defendant in the newspaper, one had served on a jury in 1954 on a robbery case, and one lived in the same neighborhood as defendant's estranged wife"

did not justify challenging the jurors for cause, because the jurors indicated that they held no bias or prejudice against the defendant. Id. at 730.

In State v. Hewitt, 689 P.2d 22 (Utah 1984), defendants were convicted of distribution of a controlled substance. On appeal, they contended that when the judge in the lower court denied their challenge for cause of two of the jurors, the judge denied them a fair trial. One of the jurors had training in the army in drug abuse, and participated in investigations of drug distribution, and was also acquainted with one of the detectives in the case, but because the juror stated that he could try the case impartially, the challenge for cause against him was rightly denied.

If the jurors in the present case were indeed told that one of the jury members knew where the defendant lived and "knew exactly what was going on", such information was certainly not an independent basis for convicting defendant, in light of the overwhelming evidence of his guilt presented at trial. There is no way for the reviewing Court to interpret the ambiguity of the

above-mentioned statement, or to know if the juror was convinced of defendant's guilt by the evidence presented at trial, or by her acquaintance with the location of his residence. The statement serves to demonstrate one more reason for excluding evidence of jury deliberations - the reviewing court has no demeanor evidence or contextual basis for interpreting the comments that allegedly were uttered by the jurors.

In Hathaway v. Marx, 439 P.2d 850, (Utah 1968), an appeal from a civil trial finding no negligence on the part of the defendant, this Court refused to give credence to the plaintiff's contention that the jury foreman stated during deliberations of the jury that he was present at the scene of the accident after it happened, and saw one of the defense witnesses there. This Court refused her contention for two reasons:

First, there [was] no competent proof that the alleged misconduct happened at all. Second, with very limited exceptions, the conduct and deliberations in the jury room cannot be impeached.

Id. at 851 (footnote omitted).

In C.R. Ownes Trucking Corporation v. Stewart, 509 P.2d 821 (Utah 1973), a negligence case, this Court explained that acquaintance with the defendant is not cause for dismissing a prospective juror. The court below "was careful to exclude from the panel veniremen who indicated bias or prejudice in favor of the defendant or who indicated a desire to be excused from

sitting on the case", and this action was held to be an adequate safeguard of the plaintiff's rights. Id. at 822.

Even in cases where there is information interjected into the realm of the jury by non-jurors during the trial, such information does not justify impeachment of the jury verdict when the jurors commit to rendering an impartial verdict and when the extraneous information is not different from the evidence presented at trial. In State v. Velasquez, 672 P.2d 1254 (Utah 1983) this Court upheld the verdict of a jury, when two jurors disobeyed court orders to avoid media coverage of the case, and stated:

In the instant case, both jurors who disobeyed the court's order stated to the court that their exposure to the newspaper articles would not influence their ability to render an impartial verdict and that the articles did not present any information that they had not already learned from the presentation of the evidence.

Id. at 1263. See also Gee v. Smith, 541 P.2d 6 (Utah 1975) (the fact that a juror was present when non-jurors were viewing a photograph of the deceased victim was not prejudicial because there had been several photographs of the deceased presented at trial); United States v. Weiner, 578 F.2d 757 (9th Cir. 1978), cert denied, 439 U.S. 981 (1978) (the facts that two jurors were present on an elevator and heard a discussion between prosecuting attorney and witness which contained no prejudicial information, and that one juror was told by the bailiff that the judge would

like a verdict did not justify overturning the verdict convicting the defendants of securities fraud); Wiser v. People, 732 P.2d 1139 (Colo. 1987) (juror consultation of dictionary and juror inquiry to legal secretary about the source of jury instructions did not merit overturning the guilty verdict of burglary and felony menacing).

Judge Burns repeatedly asked the jurors during voir dire if they could render an impartial verdict, (Tr. 26, 31, 36, 39, 41, 47, 48, 50, 52, 57, 58, 60, 61, 62, 63), and reminded them of their duty to do so at numerous points during the trial (Tr. 134, 253, 433, 468, 598, 710, 826) and in the jury instructions at the close of the case. (R. 141, 142, 145, 149, 151, 155, 163).

The jury was properly instructed to presume defendant innocent, and to appreciate the state's burden of proof.

Instruction No. 10 (R. 151) reads:

A defendant in a criminal action is presumed to be innocent until the contrary is proved and if there is a reasonable doubt as to whether his guilt is satisfactorily shown, he is entitled to an acquittal. The effect of this presumption is to place upon the State the burden of proving him guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. However, the presumption of innocence follows him throughout the trial until the State has met its burden.

To warrant your conviction of the defendant, the evidence must, to your minds, exclude every reasonable hypothesis other than that of the guilt of the defendant. That is to say, if, after a complete consideration and comparison of all the

testimony in the case, you can reasonably explain the facts given in evidence on any reasonable ground other than the guilt of the defendant, you should acquit him.

Likewise, Instruction No. 12 (R. 153) indicates that:

If the evidence in this case is susceptible of two constructions or interpretations, each of which appears to you to be reasonable and one of which points to the guilt of the defendant, while the other points to his innocence, it is your duty under the law to adopt that interpretation which will admit to the defendant's innocence and reject that which points to his guilt.

## **2. "Juror Impropriety".**

Defendant's objections to one juror's resorting to prayer, and to eleven of the twelve jurors sharing the same religion imply three things: that the praying juror's "revelation", and not the evidence, convinced her of Defendant's guilt, that her "revelation" doctrinally mandated that the other ten L.D.S. jurors convict Defendant, and that the eleven L.D.S. jurors intimidated the twelfth juror into accepting the guilty verdict. There is no competent proof to support any of these implications, and search for such proof would violate Article I, Section 4 of the Utah Constitution, which states in part, that:

The rights of conscience shall never be infringed. The State shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion or prohibiting the free exercise thereof; no religious test shall be required as a qualification for any office of public trust or for any vote at any election; nor shall any person be incompetent as a witness or juror on account of religious belief or the absence thereof.

In conformity with the Constitution, U.C.A. 78-46-3 provides that "[a] citizen shall not be excluded or exempt from jury service on account of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or economic status."

This Court has had the opportunity to discuss allegations against jurors similar to those raised by Defendant on two prior occasions. In State v. Piepenberg, 602 P.2d 702 (Utah 1979), the defendant was charged with violation of pornography laws, and on appeal, claimed that his trial was unfair, by virtue of the fact that several of the jurors admitted on voir dire that they were L.D.S. and that their church had taken a position against pornography. Because the jurors were not challenged by the defendant during the jury selection process, the judge had no opportunity to rule on the bias, and this Court held that the opportunity to rule on the bias, and this Court held that the defendant had waived his right to object to the service of the jurors. The facts of the present case parallel those in Piepenberg because Defendant here, while aware of the religious affiliations of many of the prospective jurors (Tr. 32, 39, 58, 66), failed to object to their service, and passed the jurors for cause (Tr. 75).

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